69226-7

١

69226-7

NO. 69226-7-I

## COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL REEDER,

Appellant.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

DAVID L. DONNAN Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711



##

#### A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT.

Mr. Reeder's trial on a multi-count information was fundamentally flawed because his counsel was burdened by a conflict of interest which was not resolved by sequestration. This error was compounded by the trial court's failure to dismiss charges outside the statute of limitations and to suppress bank records obtained without a warrant or equivalent authority of law. Finally, Mr. Reeder's resulting sentence violates the constitutional prohibition against double jeopardy. He now seeks relief from these errors in this Court.

#### B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

 The trial court erred by failing to appoint a new attorney where the accused's appointed counsel was burdened with a conflict of interest.

2. The trial court erred in permitting the prosecution of conduct that occurred beyond the statute of limitations.

 The trial court erred in failing to suppress bank and credit card records seized and searched without a properly obtained warrant or equivalent procedure.

 The trial court erred in imposing multiple punishments for the same offense in violation of constitutional, statutory and common law protections against double jeopardy.

#### C. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR.

1. The constitutional right to counsel includes an attorney free from conflicts of interest and, therefore, prohibits the representation where clients are adverse to each other or where there is a risk the representation of one client may limit the lawyer's responsibilities to the other. Where a lawyer was consulted and provided legal advice to an opposing parties' witness and potential co-conspirator, is he precluded from subsequently representing another party and is that bar imputed to the other attorneys in his firm?

2. Statutes of limitation bar the prosecution of criminal conduct occurring outside those limits. Where there are conflicting provisions regarding the limitations period and the evidence indicates discreet offenses rather than a continuing criminal enterprise as defined by Washington Courts, did the trial court err in failing to dismiss some or all of the charges against Mr. Reeder?

3. Bank records are private affairs in Washington into which the state may not intrude without a proper warrant or the functional equivalent. Where no warrant was obtained and the State used the secretive procedures of the special inquiry judge to obtain subpoenas duces tecum, did the record fail to establish the authority of law for this invasion of private affairs or any justification for maintaining the secrecy of the proceedings, as required by the state constitution and federal constitutions?

4. The double jeopardy bar of the state and federal constitutions prohibit multiple punishments for a single offense. Where the prosecution alleged a grand and ongoing scheme to obtain money from a specific investor by a series of fraudulent or deceptive practices, and the legislature established a singular unit of prosecution for such offenses, and the jury was not directed to find separate and distinct act unanimously, did the trial court err by imposing separate sentences for these multiple counts of securities fraud and theft?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Mr. Reeder was charged by multi-count information, filed in King County Superior Court on April 8, 2011, with securities fraud and first degree theft by color and aid of deception based on a failed real estate development partnership undertaken with William McAllister.<sup>1</sup> CP 1-21. The information was subsequently amended to charge 29 counts, 28 of which were based on 14 checks written by Mr. McAllister to Mr. Reeder between March 7, 2006, and June 20, 2007. CP 22-38. The information charged one count of securities

It is unlawful for any person, in connection with the offer, sale or purchase of any security, directly or indirectly:

- (1) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud;
- (2) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading; or
- (3) To engage in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person.

RCW 9A.56.030(1), currently defines "theft in the first degree," provides in pertinent part, that "A person is guilty of theft in the first degree if he or she commits theft of: (a) Property or services which exceed(s) five thousand dollars in value other than a firearm...." Laws 2009, ch. 431, § 7, increased the monetary amount from \$1,500 to \$5,000.

RCW 9A.56.020(1)(b) defines "theft" to include taking "by color or aid of deception to obtain control over the property or services of another or the value thereof, with the intent to deprive him or her of such property or services...."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> RCW 21.20.010, defining the offense of "securities fraud," provides:

fraud and one count of theft by deception for each of the 14 checks.<sup>2</sup> Id.

At trial William McAllister testified he was in the business of providing capital for real estate development projects in the form of short term loans and bridge funding before banks would become involved. RP 266-68. In that capacity he was introduced to Mr. Reeder by a business associate and made two loans of \$50,000 and \$35,000 which were subsequently repaid. RP 269.

Mr. Reeder had lived as a boy near Meydenbauer Bay in Bellevue and returned in 2005. 7/10/12RP 158-60, 212-13. He befriended George and Alice Buck, longtime residents of the area and former neighbors, and began helping around the Bucks' house. RP 161-64, 214. In addition to work on the porch and garage, Mr. Reeder brought gifts for the Bucks including a stove and washing machine. RP 166-67, 215. Mr. Reeder subsequently proposed a real estate deal involving the Bucks' property; but after signing a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The twenty-ninth count charged theft, but severed for trial and dismissed with prejudice on the prosecutor's motion at the end of the trial. CP 38, 139.

purchase and sale agreement, the Bucks consulted counsel and decided to unwind the deal. RP 168-95, 201-11, 216-27.

Mr. Reeder nevertheless approached William McAllister, with whom he had worked before, about the development of the Bellevue property. RP 270-79. They also began discussing the development of properties in Snohomish County. RP 280. They created a corporation and agreed McAllister would provide the capital in the form of loans to the corporation and that they would split the profits following sale of the subdivided properties. RP 282; Exhibit 10. McAllister eventually wrote 14 checks to Mr. Reeder as part of this real estate development project totaling \$1.7 million between March 2006 and June 2007. RP 287-89. Mr. Reeder eventually acknowledged the Meydenbauer deal had fallen through and reported the other party had backed out of the Snohomish County deal, but never returned the money McAllister had provided. RP 297-302.

#### E. ARGUMENT.

- 1. The trial court erred by failing to appoint new counsel where appellant's trial attorney was burdened with a conflict of interest.
  - a. Mr. Reeder sought new counsel based on his appointed attorney's conflict of interest and failure to prepare a defense.

Mr. Reeder was found indigent and counsel from Society of Counsel Representing Accused Persons (SCRAP) was assigned to represent him. 7/6/11RP 3; 4/18/12RP 2-9. It subsequently came to light, however, that another attorney at the firm, David Roberson, had previously provided legal advice to Mr. Reeder's sister, Ms. Cuzak, who was implicated in a similar mortgage fraud case against Mr. Reeder. 4/18/12RP 3. Mr. Reeder was represented by the same SCRAP attorney, Matthew Pang, in both this current prosecution as well as this mortgage fraud prosecution. Id.

Mr. Roberson explained that he had been working for another firm, Northwest Defender Agency, when he was contacted by Ms. Cuzak. He advised current counsel at SCRAP of the conflict when he became aware of the problem. 4/18/12RP 4. Mr. Roberson explained "she contacted me for legal advice, I gave it to her. If

she's a witness we have a conflict." Id. at 5.3

Mr. Roberson reiterated the scope of his involvement by noting:

Prior to there being any criminal matters involved there was a civil suit instigated by several people, and that's when Ms. Cuzak called me. I gave her advice at Northwest – when I was at Northwest Defender's regarding the civil suit, so it's not simply whether or not she should talk to Mr. Seaver. There was contact made years ago regarding a civil matter where I think the subject matter was either the same or very similar.

4/18/12RP 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> According to the trial prosecutor,

Ms. Cuzak just called him for advice on whether she should talk to Mr. Seaver [the prosecutor on the mortgage fraud case] and then went ahead and talked to Mr. Seaver. When Mr. Seaver asked her – found out about his conversation, her conversation, with Mr. Roberson, Mr. Seaver from my office said, "If you're represented by counsel, I'm not allowed to talk to you.' And she said, "I'm not represented by Mr. Roberson. He doesn't represent me. I just asked him if I should talk to you because my son knows him." That was the extent of that.

4/18/12RP 7. Mr. Roberson reiterated that, "she called for legal

advice, we talked and I gave her the legal advice," although he did

not create a file. Id. at 8.

Judge Kessler failed to see the conflict of interest.

I just don't see a conflict of interest here. Even if there is one, the Court will deem it resolvable by a Chinese wall, and Mr. Roberson is now ordered not to discuss this with anyone at all. Mr. Pang is ordered not to discuss with Roberson, Mr. Pang is ordered to advise all – any investigators that they are not to discuss it with Mr. Roberson. There's not file to warn off so that doesn't make any difference.

On [the mortgage fraud] case No. 11-106175-9 there's an arguable conflict of interest. I still think it's resolvable by the same Chinese wall, so I'm going to deny the motions to withdraw and it's time now to set this matter for trial.

4/18/12RP 8-9.

The conflict of interest, Mr. Reeder contends, was real and legally cognizable. It was not resolvable by a so-called Chinese wall and it burdened his representation throughout, requiring relief from this Court.<sup>4</sup>

 $<sup>^4</sup>$  Ms. Buck testified that Mr. Reeder visited them once with his sister. RP 165.

b. The Rules of Professional Conduct and constitutional standards of effective assistance of counsel and due process affirm the presence of a conflict of interest below.<sup>5</sup>

Attorneys owe their clients a duty of loyalty that requires they

avoid conflicts of interest. The Rules of Professional Conduct

specifically prohibit representation of a client if "(1) the

representation of one client will be directly adverse to another client;

or (2) there is a significant risk that the representation of one or more

clients will be materially limited by the lawyer's responsibilities to

another client, a former client or a third person...." RPC 1.7(a).

This duty is a continuing one. RPC 1.9.6 Critically here, the rules

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See RPC 1.7(b) (conflict of interest with attorney's own interests); 1.8(b) (lawyer shall not use information learned in representing client to disadvantage of client without prior consent); 1.15(b)(6) (lawyer may withdraw for good cause); 3.8(b) (prosecutor will take reasonable steps to give defendant opportunity to obtain counsel).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> RPC 1.9 provides:

<sup>(</sup>a) A lawyer who has formerly represented a client in a matter shall not thereafter represent another person in the same or a substantially related matter in which that person's interests are materially adverse to the interests of the former client

<sup>(</sup>b) A lawyer shall not knowingly represent a person in the same or a substantially related matter in which a firm with which the lawyer formerly was associated had previously represented a client

<sup>(1)</sup> whose interests are materially adverse to that person; and

impute the conflict requirements to all the members of a firm. RPC 1.10(a).<sup>7</sup>

These rules are crucial to ensuring the constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel which is guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment and Article 1, section 22 of the Washington Constitution. <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 685, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); <u>State v. Mierz</u>, 127 Wn.2d 460, 471, 901 P.2d 286 (1995). Effective assistance includes "a duty of

<sup>7</sup> RPC 1.10 provides in pertinent part:

- (a) Except as provided in paragraph (e), while lawyers are associated in a firm, none of them shall knowingly represent a client when any one of them practicing alone would be prohibited from doing so by Rules 1.7 or 1.9, unless the prohibition is based on a personal interest of the disqualified lawyer and does not present a significant risk of materially limiting the representation of the client by the remaining lawyers in the firm.
- (b) When a lawyer has terminated an association with a firm, the firm is not prohibited from thereafter representing a person with interests materially adverse to those of a client represented by the formerly associated lawyer and not currently represented by the firm, unless:
  - the matter is the same or substantially related to that in which the formerly associated lawyer represented the client; and

<sup>(2)</sup> about whom the lawyer had acquired information protected by Rules 1. 6 and 1.9(c) that is material to the matter; ....

loyalty, [and] a duty to avoid conflicts of interest." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 688. Under the Sixth Amendment, a criminal defendant has a constitutional right to conflict-free representation. <u>State v. Dhaliwal</u>, 150 Wn.2d 559, 566, 79 P.3d 432 (2003).

As this Court has noted,

We cannot over-emphasize the primary importance of the right to counsel: '[o]f all the rights that an accused person has, the right to be represented by counsel is by far the most pervasive, for it affects his ability to assert any other rights he may have.'

State v. McDonald, 96 Wn.App. 311, 316, 979 P.2d 857 (1999),

affirmed by State v. McDonald, 143 Wn.2d 506, 22 P.3d 791 (2000),

quoting Schaefer, Federalism and state Criminal Procedure, 70 Harv.

L.Rev. 1, 8 (1956).

An actual conflict of interest exists "when a defense attorney owes duties to a party whose interests are adverse to those of the defendant." <u>McDonald</u>, 96 Wn.App. at 317. Mr. Roberson continues to owe a duty of loyalty to Ms. Cuzak. He brought that duty with him to SCRAP and it is now imputed to the attorneys

<sup>(2)</sup> any lawyer remaining in the firm has information protected by Rules 1.6 and 1.9(c) that is material to the matter.

there, including Mr. Pang. The prosecution has alleged she is a witness, perhaps even an accomplice.

Appellate courts review de novo whether the circumstances demonstrate a conflict under the ethical rules. <u>Regan</u>, 143 Wn.App. at 428. The trial court erred in finding there was no conflict of interest.

## c. Mr. Reeder was prejudiced by the conflict of interest throughout the proceedings.

The conflict of interest Mr. Reeder endured was real and clearly impacted the attorney client relationship throughout the proceedings. Mr. Pang continued to represent Mr. Reeder after the motion for new counsel was denied, the parties returned to court in June, at which time Mr. Reeder expressed his continuing concerns regarding his representation. 6/20/12RP 20. Mr. Pang was still representing him on both matters. 6/20/12RP 20. Mr. Reeder reported:

> ... I met with Mr. Pang, Your Honor, and he, quote, said, "I think you've been wrong, Mr. Reeder. I cannot represent you efficiently or effectively. I haven't had the time since your case has been given to me. I'm not qualified to try this case,....

<u>Id</u>. at 21.

Mr. Pang admitted "that is while I did say that I – I'm not prepared, the (inaudible) issue is just a matter of time to be prepared. It's not – it's not an issue of that I can't do a fraud case." <u>Id</u>. at 21-22. He also acknowledged, however, that "the discussions that Mr. Reeder and I have had subsequent to that, we've had several disagreements over what had been happened in the prior meeting." <u>Id</u>. at 22. This presented the very risk contemplated by the Rules of Professional Conduct, but Judge Kessler again denied Mr. Reeder's requests for conflict free counsel. <u>Id</u>.

Mr. Reeder renewed his request on July 2, 2012, and the trial court again denied his prayer for relief. 7/2/12RP 26, 32. Forced to trial with counsel burdened by the imputed conflict of interest and with whom he had plainly lost confidence, he presented no defense case and the result was not surprising. Mr. Reeder used his opportunity for allocution at sentencing to reiterate that the representation he received in trial was ineffective. 8/17/12RP 674.

The trial prosecutor took the position that providing legal advice without fully and formally undertaking representation was insufficient to create a conflict of interest, that Ms. Cuzak was not a

witness in this specific case and that the conflict could be resolved if "we just order them not to talk to talk to each other...." 4/18/13RP

6.

RPC 1.18 extends the duties of confidentiality to "prospective clients" where the initial consultations do not lead to a formal attorney-client relationship as well.<sup>8</sup> The relationship here, even

<sup>8</sup> RPC 1.18 outlines the duties owed to "prospective client"

- (b) Even when no client-lawyer relationship ensues, a lawyer who has had discussions with a prospective client shall not use or reveal information learned in the consultation, except as Rule 1.9 would permit with respect to information of a former client or except as provided in paragraph (e).
- (c) A lawyer subject to paragraph (b) shall not represent a client with interests materially adverse to those of a prospective client in the same or a substantially related matter if the lawyer received information from the prospective client that could be significantly harmful to that person in the matter, except as provided in paragraphs (d) or (e). If a lawyer is disqualified from representation under this paragraph, no lawyer in a firm with which that lawyer is associated may knowingly undertake or continue representation in such a matter, except as provided in paragraph (d).
- (d) When the lawyer has received disqualifying information as defined in paragraph (c), representation is permissible if:
  - (1) both the affected client and the prospective client have given informed consent, confirmed in writing, or:
  - (2) the lawyer who received the information took reasonable measures to avoid exposure to more disqualifying information than was reasonably necessary to determine whether to represent the prospective client; and

<sup>(</sup>a) A person who discusses with a lawyer the possibility of forming a client-lawyer relationship with respect to a matter is a prospective client.

though brief, was still subject to the duties of confidentiality and loyalty.

Furthermore, the trial court's retreat behind a "Chinese Wall" was ineffectual in resolving the conflict. Although this form of sequestration has been recognized in case law and in the rules of professional conduct, the efforts here were incomplete and insufficient to resolve the conflict. See <u>State v. Stenger</u>, 111 Wn.2d 516, 522-23, 760 P.2d 357 (1988); RPC 1.10(b)<sup>9</sup> and (e)<sup>10</sup> also

(ii) written notice is promptly given to the prospective client.

<sup>9</sup> RPC 1.10(b), regarding imputed conflicts describes the limits on representation of a firm after a lawyer has left.

When a lawyer has terminated an association with a firm, the firm is not prohibited from thereafter representing a person with interests materially adverse to those of a client represented by the formerly associated lawyer and not currently represented by the firm, unless:

(1) the matter is the same or substantially related to that in which the formerly associated lawyer represented the client; and
(2) any lawyer remaining in the firm has information protected by Rules 1.6 and 1.9(c) that is material to the matter.

<sup>9</sup> RPC 1.10(e) provides:

When the prohibition on representation under paragraph (a) is based on Rule 1.9(a) or (b), and arises out of the disqualified lawyer's association with a prior firm, no other lawyer in the firm shall knowingly represent a person in a matter in which that lawyer is disqualified unless:

 <sup>(</sup>i) the disqualified lawyer is timely screened from any participation in the matter and is apportioned no part of the fee therefrom; and

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