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

counsel not to speak to each other regarding their representation when 

counsel had not demonstrated that appellant's sister was a former client or 

that there was an actual conflict of interest or a significant risk that his 

lawyer's representation was materially limited by a conflict of interest. 

2. The trial court did not err when it denied appellant's motion 

to dismiss counts for violation ofthe statute oflimitations when the counts 

were charged within the time period permitted by the statute of limitations 

and when the State had asked the court to instruct the jury to find the 

statute of limitations proved beyond a reasonable doubt. 

3. The trial court did not err when it denied appellant's motion 

to suppress bank records when those records were obtained under 

authority of law by Special Inquiry Judge Subpoena under 

RCW 10.27.170. 

4. The trial court did not violate the prohibition against 

double jeopardy when it sentenced him to an exceptional sentence above 

the standard sentence range for fourteen counts of securities fraud and 
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fourteen counts of first-degree theft because the instructions, evidence, 

and argument made it manifestly clear to the jury that each count required 

proof of a separate and distinct criminal act. 

D. ARGUMENT 

1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT DENIED 
APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR NEW COUNSEL FOR A 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST AND INSTEAD 
INSTRUCTED COUNSEL NOT TO SPEAK TO EACH 
OTHER REGARDING THEIR REPRESENTATION 
WHEN COUNSEL HAD NOT DEMONSTRATED THAT 
APPELLANT'S SISTER WAS A FORMER CLIENT, OR 
THAT THERE WAS AN ACTUAL CONFLICT OF 
INTEREST, OR THAT THERE WAS A SIGNIFICANT 
RISK THAT HIS LAWYER'S REPRESENT A nON WAS 
MATERIALLY LIMITED BY A CONFLICT OF 
INTEREST. 

The constitutional right to counsel includes the right to assistance 

of counsel free from conflicts of interest. State v. Davis. 141 Wn.2d 798, 

860, 10 P.3d 977 (2000). However, "The mere possibility of a conflict of 

interest is not sufficient to 'impugn a criminal conviction.'" Davis. 141 

Wn.2d at 861, 10 P.3d 977 (quoting Cuyler v. Sullivan. 446 U.S. 335, 

348-49,100 S. Ct. 1708, 1719,64 L. Ed. 2d 333 (1980)). 

Appellant claims that the trial court erred when it denied his 

motion for new counsel because his current lawyer had a conflict of 

interest. Appellant claims that this conflict of interest existed because 

another lawyer in his current lawyer's firm had advised appellant's sister 
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about a related civil case before the charges in this case were filed. Before 

a defendant is entitled to new counsel for a conflict of interest he or she 

must demonstrate either an actual conflict of interest between a current 

and former client or a significant risk that his lawyer's representation will 

be materially limited by a conflict with a former client: 

RULE 1.7 CONFLICT OF INTEREST: CURRENT CLIENTS 

(a) Except as provided in paragraph (b), a lawyer shall not 
represent a client if the representation involves a concurrent 
conflict of interest. A concurrent conflict of interest exists 
if: 
(1) the representation of one client will be directly adverse 
to another client; or 
(2) there is a significant risk that the representation of one 
or more clients will be materially limited by the lawyer's 
responsibilities to another client, a former client or a third 
person or by a personal interest of the lawyer. 

RPC 1.7. 

First, appellant failed to demonstrate that Ms. Cuzak was a former 

client of his lawyer's firm: 

The existence of an attorney/client relationship is a 
question of fact, the essence of which may be inferred from 
the parties' conduct or based upon the client's reasonable 
subjective belief that such a relationship exists. Even a 
short consultation may suffice to create an attorney/client 
relationship, and an important factor in determining the 
existence of the relationship is the client's subjective belief. 

Teja v. Saran, 68 Wn. App. 793, 795-96,846 P.2d 1375, review denied, 

122 Wn.2d 1008,859 P.2d 604 (1993) (citation omitted). 
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The record below does not support appellant's claim that 

Ms. Cuzak was a former client of his lawyer's firm. Mr. Roberson did 

not create a file after his telephone consultation with Ms. Cuzak and 

Ms. Cuzak told a prosecutor in King County Prosecuting Attorney's 

Office that she was not represented by Mr. Roberson. An attorney-client 

relationship cannot be inferred from the parties' conduct or subjective 

belief that there was an attorney-client relationship. 

Second, there is no evidence in the record that there was a conflict 

of interest. In determining whether an apparent conflict of interest on the 

part of trial counsel warrants reversal appellate courts employ a two prong 

test: first, a trial court commits reversible error if it knows or reasonably 

should know of a particular conflict into which it fails to inquire, and 

second, reversal is always necessary where a defendant shows an 

actual conflict of interest adversely affecting counsel's performance. 

State v. Dhaliwal, 113 Wn. App. 226, 53 P.3d 65 (2002), affirmed, 150 

Wn.2d 559, 79 P.3d 432 (2003). 

Although the trial court inquired into appellant's claimed conflict 

of interest the record is devoid of any suggestion of an actual conflict or 

that there was a significant risk that his attorney's representation was 
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materially limited by Mr. Roberson's advice to Ms. Cuzak. An actual 

conflict of interest exists when a defense attorney owes duties to a party 

whose interests are adverse to those of the defendant. State v. Byrd, 30 

Wn. App. 794, 798, 638 P.2d 601 (1981). Appellant has failed to identify 

any interest Ms. Cuzak had that was adverse to his own. The advice 

offered by Mr. Roberson to Ms. Cuzak involved a purportedly related civil 

case and was given before charges were filed in the case on appeal. 

Neither appellant nor his attorney explained the nature of the civil case or 

the advice given. Ms. Cuzak was not called or subpoenaed as a witness in 

the case on appeal. Under these circumstances the trial court did not err in 

denying appellant's motion for new counsel for a conflict of interest. 

In his brief on appeal appellant claims that the prosecution alleged 

that Ms. Cuzak "is a witness, perhaps even an accomplice." This 

statement is completely unsupported by the record and appellant offers no 

citation to the record to support this claim. Appellant also claims that he 

was prejudiced by a conflict of interest because "counsel failed to 

understand the nature of the case, the relevant evidentiary standards, and 

ultimately presented no defense." This claim is also not supported by the 

record. 
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2. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT DENIED 
APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS COUNTS FOR 
VIOLATION OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS 
WHEN THE COUNTS WERE CHARGED WITHIN THE 
TIME PERIOD PERMITTED BY THE STATUTE OF 
LIMITATIONS AND WHEN THE STATE HAD ASKED 
THE COURT TO INSTRUCT THE JURY TO FIND THE 
STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS PROVED BEYOND A 
REASONABLE DOUBT. 

a. Securities Fraud. 

Appellant was charged by amended information with fourteen 

counts of securities fraud on April 8, 2011. CP 280-300. Counts 1 and 3 

of the information charged appellant with securities fraud occurring during 

a time period intervening between March 7, 2006 and June 20, 2007, and 

March 9, 2006 and June 20, 2007, based on checks the victim wrote to 

appellant on March 7 and March 9, 2006, respectively. In the remaining 

counts of securities fraud the information charged appellant with each of 

twelve different investment transactions based on checks written from 

May 4,2006, until June 20, 2007. CP 301-317. The jury instructions for 

all counts of securities fraud required the jury to find that the State had 

proved beyond a reasonable doubt "That the act or acts described in (l)(a), 

(b), or (c) were part of a continuing course of conduct and were committed 

under a continuing criminal impulse that did not terminate until after April 

7,2006." CP 353-413. The jury returned verdicts of guilty on all fourteen 

charged counts of securities fraud. CP 201-03. 
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Where a crime is part of a continuing criminal impulse the statute 

of limitations does not begin to run until the criminal impulse is 

terminated. State v. Reid, 74 Wn. App. 281, 290,872 P.2d 1135 (1994) 

(citing State v. Brisebois, 39 Wn. App. 156, 163,692 P.2d 842 and State 

v. Carrier, 36 Wn. App. 755, 758, 677 P.2d 768 (1984)). "Whether a 

criminal impulse continues into the statute of limitations period is a 

question of fact for the jury." State v. Dash, 163 Wn. App. 63, 259 P.3d 

319 (2011), citing State v. Mermis, 105 Wn. App. 738, 746,20 P.3d 1044 

(2001). The statute of limitations for securities fraud is five years from the 

date of violation or three years after discovery of the violation, whichever 

is later. RCW 21.20.400(3). 

Here, the information charged appellant with fourteen counts of 

securities fraud all occurring within five years of the date the information 

was filed. The jury's verdict that appellant's continuing course of conduct 

and continuing criminal impulse did not terminate until after April 7, 

2006, was amply supported by the evidence at trial of appellant's 

continuing misrepresentations to Mr. McAllister regarding his efforts to 

acquire the properties coupled with appellant's bank records that showed 

he was spending Mr. McAllister's investment money at casinos, 

withdrawing it in cash, or using it for his personal expenses. 
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Appellant argues that because there is a conflict between RCW 

9A.04.080 which provides that "No other felony may be prosecuted more 

than three years after its commission ... " and the five-year statute of 

limitations in RCW 21.20.400(3) the rule oflenity requires the court to 

apply the three year statute of limitations. However, the rule of lenity is 

properly applied in construing an ambiguous criminal statute. State v. 

Welty, 44 Wn. App. 281, 726 P.2d 472 (1986), and operates in the 

absence of clear evidence oflegislative intent. State v. Pentland, 43 Wn. 

App. 808,719 P.2d 605 (1986); State v. Datin, 45 Wn. App. 844, 845,729 

P.2d 61,62 (1986). 

In Datin, appellant argued that the rule of lenity required the State 

to charge him with first-degree incest, a lesser offense of the crime he was 

charged with, first-degree rape, since his conduct violated both statutes. In 

holding the rule of lenity did not apply to this circumstance, the court 

noted: 

Where a special statute punishes the same conduct that is 
punished under a general statute, the special statute applies 
and the accused can be charged only under that statute. 
State v. Shriner, 101 Wn.2d 576, 681 P.2d 237 (1984). 
Courts will assume in such a case that the Legislature 
intended that the specific crime be charged where the 
defendant's conduct violates both the specific and the more 
general statutes. This rule of construction applies only 
where the statutes are concurrent, that is, where the general 
statute will be violated in each instance where the special 
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statute has been violated. Shriner, 101 Wn.2d at 580, 681 
P.2d 237. 

Id. at 845-46. 

Similarly, the special statute oflimitations for securities fraud of 

five years in RCW 21.20 should be applied here instead of the general 

statute of limitations of three years in RCW 9A. The two statutes are not 

ambiguous and the legislature's intent to enact a longer statute of 

limitations for securities fraud is made clear by the amendment of 

RCW 21.20.400 in 2003 to add the provision that the statute does not 

begin to run until the later of five years or three years from discovery. 

Where there is a conflict between two statutory provisions the more 

specific controls over the more general. Spokane County Fire Prot. Dist. 

No.9 v. Spokane County Boundary Review Board, 97 Wn.2d 922, 

925-26,652 P.2d 1356 (1982). Appellant's argument to the contrary is 

without merit. 

b. Theft By Deception. 

Appellant was also charged with fourteen counts of first-degree 

theft by deception on April 8, 2011. The information charged counts 2, 4, 

6, 8, 10, 12, and 14 as a continuing course of conduct beginning on 

various dates from March 7, 2006 to July 5, 2006, and ending on June 20, 

2007, based on the same transactions charged in the securities fraud 
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counts. The remaining seven counts of first-degree theft charged appellant 

with each of seven different theft transactions occurring from August 2, 

2006, until June 20, 2007. CP 1-21. The statute of limitations for first

degree theft by deception was three years until July 26, 2009, when an 

amendment to RCW 9A.04.080 extending the statute oflimitations to six 

years for first- and second-degree theft by deception took effect. 

2009 Wash. Legis. Serv., Ch. 53 §1 (West); RCW 9A.04.080(1)(d)(iv). 

Appellant makes the same argument for reversal of the theft counts 

as he does for the securities fraud counts: The rule of lenity requires the 

court to apply the three-year statute of limitations. However, the rule of 

lenity operates in the absence of clear evidence of legislative intent and 

applies only if the statute is ambiguous. See Welty, Pentland and Datin, 

supra. RCW 9A.04.080(1)(d)(iv) is not ambiguous and the legislative 

intent to extend the limitations period for theft by deception is clear. 

Rather than the rule of lenity, the following rule applies: When the 

legislature extends a criminal statute of limitation the new period of 

limitation applies to offenses not already time barred when the new 

enactment was adopted and became effective. State v. Hodgson, 108 

Wn.2d 662, 666-67, 740 P.2d 848, 850-51 (1987). None of the theft 

counts charged were time barred by the three-year statute of limitations on 

July 26, 2009, so the statute of limitations for those counts is six years. 
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All of the theft counts were filed within six years of the criminal act. 

Appellant's argument that the theft counts should be reversed as barred by 

the statute of limitations is without merit. 

3. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT 
DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS 
BANK RECORDS WHEN THOSE RECORDS WERE 
OBTAINED UNDER AUTHORITY OF LAW BY 
SPECIAL INQUIRY JUDGE SUBPOENA UNDER 
RCW 10.27.170. 

The State obtained appellant's bank account records by subpoenas 

issued by Special Inquiry Judge under RCW 10.27.170. The trial court 

denied appellant's motion to suppress the records at trial under State v. 

Miles, 160 Wn.2d 236, 156 P.3d 864 (2007). In Miles, the court held that 

the Securities Division's use of administrative subpoenas to obtain a 

person's bank records violated article I, § 7 of the Washington 

Consti tution: 

We find that banking records are private affairs 
protected by article I, section 7 of the Washington 
Constitution. A search of personal banking records without 
a judicially issued warrant or subpoena to the subject 
party violates article I, section 7. Chapter 21.20 RCW is 
invalid to the extent it authorizes the Division to issue 
administrative subpoenas to third parties for otherwise 
private information. 

State v. Miles, 160 Wn. 2d 236, 252, 156 P.3d 864, 872 (2007) (emphasis 

added). 
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Appellant offered no additional authority to the trial court below 

that the records were obtained without authority of law. Nor did he raise 

any of the additional grounds for suppression he now raises on appeal. 

On appeal he cites cases that stand for the proposition that warrantless 

searches are generally unreasonable and that subpoenas that are not issued 

by ajudge cannot be used to violate a person's private affairs. However, 

none of the cases he cites conflict with the holding in Miles or provide 

authority for his claim that subpoenas issued by the Special Inquiry Judge 

violate the state or federal constitutions. "Naked castings into the 

constitutional sea are not sufficient to command judicial consideration and 

discussion." In re Request of Rosier, 105 Wn.2d 606, 616, 717 P.2d 1353, 

1359 (1986). 

Appellant raises a number of procedural issues on appeal. He 

argues that the prosecuting attorney does not meet the definition of a 

public attorney under the statute, that the secrecy provisions of 

RCW 10.27 violate the open courts doctrine, and that there is no proof 

in the record that the Special Inquiry Judge was a neutral magistrate. 

A special inquiry judge is sufficiently severed and disengaged from law 

enforcement activities to qualify as a neutral and detached magistrate. 

State v. Neslund, 103 Wn.2d 79, 690 P.2d 1153 (1984). However, 

appellant abandoned his challenge to the records at trial on these new 
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grounds after the court invited him to produce additional authority to 

support his argument that his records were obtained without authority of 

law. The court should not consider these additional arguments for the first 

time on appeal. 

Use of the Special Inquiry Judge to obtain appellant's bank records 

violated neither the state nor federal constitutions under Miles. The trial 

court properly denied appellant's motion to suppress the records on these 

grounds. This court should not reverse the trial court and suppress the

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